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    AS TO THE ORIGIN OF THE AMERICAN INDIANS

~

    
    WHEN CHRISTOPHER COLUMBUS SAILED FROM Spain in August, 1492, going westward over an unexplored sea, the expectation of discovering a new world was far from his thoughts.

    It had for years been the dream of his life that there must be land beyond the limits of the Atlantic, and that by sailing to the West he could discover a nearer route to India than was at that time in use.

    The riches of India were believed to be almost boundless, and Venice and other centers of commerce had amassed wealth in trade therewith ; all of which fired the imagination of Columbus, who was naturally of an adventurous disposition, and withal a man of great daring and ability.

    After some months of sailing it took all the ingenuity and address of the great sailor to prevent an open mutiny of his crew, consisting of 120 men, who became discouraged, many of them fearing that they would be cast away upon what seemed to them a limitless waste of desolate waters.

    Finally when the crew was almost in a state of mutiny, one night Columbus descried a light and soon land loomed up in the distance, and then the vessels lay to, until next day, when they were overjoyed to behold a beautiful forested land from which friendly savages, perfectly naked, issued forth, looking upon the white men and their vessels with evident astonishment.

    Attired in scarlet Columbus with his principal officers and men bearing the standards of Ferdinand and Isabella were soon on the land, when the admiral fell on his knees, kissed the earth and returned thanks for his safe deliverance with tears of joy; and his example being followed by his men, he arose and with sword in hand declared that he took possession of the country in the name of his king and queen.

    In so doing he ignored the rights of the aborigines, whose ancestors had possessed the country as their own from time immemorial.

    He claimed the country by what is termed the right of discovery, or which might otherwise be termed the right of might.

    Long years afterwards in the year 1823, the Supreme Court of the United States through Chief Justice Marshall solemnly adjudged that in point of law the Indians had no real title to the country they occupied, but that European nations secured the title thereto by right of original discovery, which was the subject of barter and sale, regardless of the rights and claims of the aborigines who for ages had occupied, claimed, and owned distinct and separate parts of the new world. (See the case of Johnson vs. Mcintosh, 8 Wheaton, 543.)

    Columbus named the island on which he landed San Salvador, and thinking that it was a part of India, he called the inhabitants Indians, and this designation has clung to the aborigines of America to this day, and will doubtless endure for all time.

    This is but one instance illustrating that, when an error has once fixed itself in the popular mind, it is next to impossible to correct it. In this instance the error is harmless; but in other departments of the many factors which go towards making up the onward march of civilization, like errors and delusions have greatly delayed progress in  many of the activities of human life.

    This memorable voyage of Columbus was the signal that soon brought forth many adventurous sailors, who sailed the seas over in the quest of fortune and fame; but years rolled by before it was known that in point of fact a new world had been discovered.

    Amerigo Vespucci, among others having crossed the ocean to the main land of the Western Hemisphere, so impressed his contemporaries with reports of his discoveries, that the new world became his namesake, and ever since has been known as  America, an honor undeserved and that should have been bestowed upon Columbus, but instead he was rewarded with poverty and chains.

    It was not until years afterwards that Ferdinand Magellan succeeded in passing around the southern extremity of America, and gave his name to the wild and dangerous straits through which he passed from the Atlantic to the Pacific Ocean, and the latter to this day bears the name he gave it.

    His dream was to prove that this world on which we live is a globe, but his dream ended with his life, April 27, 1521, in the Philippine Islands which he discovered.

    Fortunately his lieutenant, Sebastine d’Elcano, proved a worthy successor to the great Magellan, and succeeding to the command, he sailed onward and after discovering many islands, finally doubled the southern extremity of the African continent and returned to the port from which he sailed, thereby proving to be true the theory of Magellan, and which in turn proved that America was a new world beyond the shadow of a doubt.

    Magellan had sailed with five ships, but only one, the San Vittoria, circled the earth, arriving at St. Lu car near Seville, September 7, 1522, after a voyage of more than three years.

    She had accomplished the greatest achievement in the history of the world up to that time, for she had circumnavigated the globe. The tremendous importance of this great voyage, and its effect upon the intellectual development of mankind lies far beyond the scope of these pages.

    The wise men, philosophers, and especially the ecclesiastical world, were thrown into a great discussion to account for a new world, peopled by many tribes and nations theretofore unknown, and likewise forested with innumerable new trees and plants through which roamed countless new animals, while the air was filled with birds and a feathered tribe totally unknown in the old world.

    The question debated was as to when and where all of these things were created, and especially were they created as a  part of the acts of that six days’ creation set forth in the sacred writings of the Christian religion.

    To doubt that all men were the descendants of Adam and Eve was to deny the authenticity of the Scriptures, and would probably have put in jeopardy the liberty or life of one so bold as to raise such a question.

    It is difficult for us now to realize how profoundly the question as to the origin of the American aborigines affected the learned men and ecclesiastics of that time, and even in comparatively modern days.

    One of the early and favorite theories was a suggestion or argument put forth that when the ark of Noah finally rested on Mount Ararat that by unknown means some of its passengers became shipwrecked, so to speak, and in due course of time some of them reached the new world, and that the Indians were their descendants.  Volumes were written to sustain this view.

    Other authors called attention to the fact that in the remote past Diodorus Siculus relates that the ancient Phoenicians discovered a large island in the Atlantic far beyond the pillars of Hercules, which abounded in all kinds of riches. Plutarch mentions what Plato said as to the information given in respect thereto by Egyptian priests. This is what is sometimes called the fabled Atlantis. Many believe even to this day that there was such an island known as the Atlantis, which formerly adjoined other islands, so that America might have been peopled from Europe by persons going from one island to another until the American continent was reached. The Azores islands are supposed by some to be the tops of the mountains on the Atlantis island at the time a great submergence took place in some prehistoric period. I was in the Azores in 1912, and to me the island had a mountainous aspect.

    Another theory, and the one probably most written of and advocated by learned writers, is to the effect that the Indians were the descendants of the lost tribes of Israel ; that is, that they are the lineal descendants of the Jews.  Among these writers I  read only one, viz. : that of James Adair, who published a lengthy account of the American Indians in London in 1775, which has never been republished and is a rare book.

    Adair was an English trader and commenced to trade with the Indians in 1735, and first traded with the Chickasaws in 1744, among whom he wrote the greater part of his book.

    The book contains 404 pages, of which 220 pages consist of what he denominates “arguments” in proof of his theory that the Indians are descendants of the Jews. There are twenty-three of these “arguments,” each being about the usual length of an ordinary chapter. Adair was as perfectly conversant with the marriage, divorce, inheritance, burial, and all other rites, laws, and customs of the Chickasaws and neighboring nations, as a white man could well be; and at the same time he was perfectly conversant with the Old Testament; and the ingenuity displayed by him in an endeavor to show a similarity between the ancient customs and laws of the Jews with those of the Indians is worthy of admiration.

    John R. Swanton, of the Bureau of American Ethnology, wrote me on March 21, 1917, that by all odds the best account of the Chickasaw Indians was the work of Adair, even though it was marred by his “arguments” in favor of his favorite theory, for he knew the Chickasaws at first hand, and wrote what he saw and heard.

    In addition to the above theories there are two documents, one of Chinese and the other of Scandinavian origin, which undertake to relate the discovery of a country, the first by the Chinese early in the Christian era, wherein the kingdom of Fu-Sang was established, and it is claimed Fu-Sang was upon American soil, hence the descent of the Indians from the Chinese.

    The Scandinavian Vikings early discovered Iceland, and it is recorded in the sagas that about the year 981 A. D., Eric the Red, an outlaw of Ireland, discovered Greenland, and the same sagas or written legends which set forth these discoveries also relate that subsequent thereto the Vikings made frequent visits  to the south to a land which had been discovered there by one Bjarni, and which was given the name of Vinland about the year 985 A. D.

    There is much diversity of opinion as to the trustworthiness of either the Chinese or Scandinavian accounts.

    There is a theory also that America was settled by Japanese, as many Japanese junks have drifted to the American coast, some empty, and some with men, but it is said there is no evidence of a Japanese woman having ever arrived in this way.

    A cold current flows from the arctic regions down southward by China, hence it is said no Chinese wreckage has ever reached American soil. On the other hand, what we call the Japanese current flows northwestward near the Japanese islands, and as the current runs at the rate of some ten miles an hour, wreckage could well reach America.

    While the origin of our Indians is by no means definitely known, still I am strongly inclined to believe that their original ancestors came across Bering Strait from Asia to Alaska at some very remote period. The straits dividing the continents are variously estimated to be only from thirty-six to fifty-six miles across, and in addition there are in it two islands of some considerable extent, and these are about midway between the shores of the two continents and are known as the Diomede Islands, and are inhabited by Eskimos. Besides, the straits are often frozen over in winter, so that the hardy natives would find no difficulty whatever in crossing on the ice from Siberia to Alaska.

    In 1906, my wife and I were in Nome, Alaska, and after going upon the steamer Olympia to sail for Seattle, a large open boat came alongside containing a jolly family of Eskimos with the peculiarity that the heads of the men were shaved on top; and upon calling attention to this I was told these people were from the Diomede Islands, it being the custom of the men there to shave the top of the head, and that these people often came down the coast several hundred miles to visit at Nome and further down the coast.

    Previously on the same trip, after landing at Skagway, we crossed over the coast mountains on the Yukon and White Pass Railroad, and we reached White Horse, on the Thirty-mile River at the foot of the White Horse Rapids, where we took a steamer for Dawson City, the commercial and political capital of the Yukon territory, where we remained about one week. Taking another vessel, we continued our voyage down the great Yukon River to Fort Gibbon, where we changed to another steamer which carried us to St. Michaels, in the Bering Sea, and which is the entrepot for the Yukon River country. There we stopped a few days with the family of a friend, Walter Chidester, a very capable and observant man, then the agent for a great commercial concern in that distant part of the world.

    I had been much interested in the long voyage of 2,000 miles down the Yukon to observe what I could with respect to the native Indians, though not many were to be seen. As we approached the sea, say for about 150 miles from the mouth of the river, it was extremely interesting to me to observe how the Indians gradually shaded off into the Eskimo type. The change appeared in the native garments, especially in the parka of the Eskimo, and in the little igloos shaped like beehives and well known from pictures we so often see.

    Mr. Chidester informed me that there were several encampments of Eskimos on the seashore near his house, and that these hardy natives came from Asia along the Arctic Sea, and thought nothing of crossing Bering Strait and coming down the coast of Alaska, a distance of 500 miles, on a kind of summer trip. Next morning we went down to view the encampment. The boats they came in did not contain a piece of metal, and doubtless were of the same pattern and kind used from the most remote times. The boats were, according to my estimate, some forty feet long, and wide and deep in proportion to the length. The framework consisted of driftwood lashed together with rawhide, and the sides or hull was rough walrus rawhide, and, of course, entirely waterproof.

    On leaving their homes in Siberia, all they had to do was to launch their boat, pile in it their children and dogs with such provisions and cooking utensils as they had, and nothing remained except to paddle across the straits, and thence enjoy as happy a voyage down the coast as is given to the children of Nature.

    The Eskimos have the slanting eyes of the Japanese and Chinese, and are generally plump, very pleasing in their demeanor, and many of them were very good looking, some of the women having a dignified, matronly appearance; and it was said no Eskimo was ever seen to strike a child.

    We arrived at Nome on Saturday and that night, under the electric lights of that outpost of civilization, the streets were full of Eskimos of all sexes and ages, dressed in varicolored furs, and these with miners and prospectors from many parts of the earth presented one of the most picturesque scenes I ever looked upon.

    As is well known, the Laps inhabit the northern arctic regions of Norway, Sweden, and a portion of Russia, their country being usually denominated Lapland. While they succeeded in domesticating the reindeer, still they have no organized government, and owe allegiance to the various countries in which they live.

    All ethnologists agree that the Laps are in no way connected with the Eskimos, but are probably related to the Finns, both being a branch of the Asiatic Mongolian race, about whose origin little is known.

    The best theory seems to be that the Laps in remote ages lived further south and were gradually driven north by their more powerful neighbors, and in course of time the only asylum that could afford them protection was the frozen North, which accordingly became their permanent home.

    On the shores of Arctic Asia the Eskimos commence and continue not only across the Bering Strait, but they inhabit all of the Northern shores and islands of North America, and

    extend as far as Greenland, which is far out in the Atlantic Ocean. It was once a question how the Eskimos could get to Greenland, but it seems to be now well agreed that they could cross on the ice, and if need be, aided by their water craft.

    The Eskimos stretch over a distance of some thousands of miles, counting from those who live in Asia on eastward to Greenland, the Arctic Islands, and lands in the far frozen North; and it seems to be agreed that their speech shows a common origin. No other uncivilized people have ever been known to inhabit a country so extensive in length, and in all probability there is no intercourse between those separated by great distances. It would seem, therefore, that the Eskimos on the arctic shores of Asia were driven there by their Mongolian neighbors in the south, which finally became their home, as the Laps found a home on the northern shores of Arctic Europe. The features of the Eskimos are of the Mongolian type and I do not think there can be a reasonable doubt that they are of Mongolian origin. It is true that they have their peculiar characteristics, but their mode of life for ages in the arctic regions, with the intense struggle for existence peculiar to that life would necessarily show variations from the original type.

    All the Eskimos I have seen appeared to better advantage both in person and general deportment, as well as in the souvenirs of their own make which they offered for sale, than did the Laps whom I saw in northern Norway in 1912, on a visit we made that year to the North Cape, commonly called the land of the midnight sun.

    Those Laps had a scrawny, dirty appearance, and the trinkets offered for sale seemed to me far inferior to the handiwork of the Eskimos.

    That the Indians of North America are either the descendants of Eskimos or Asiatics I scarcely think is doubtful. While the great Yukon River flows for the most part through a great plateau, with considerable forests on its banks, still these trees gradually fade away into mere scrub, within, say, one  hundred miles of the mouth of the river. The evident reason is that trees cannot grow on the desolate tundras near the sea, precisely as no trees are to be found on the shores of the Arctic Ocean.

    I was told that Eskimos lived on the desolate lower reaches of the Yukon, and in fact saw their igloos and could distinguish them by the parkas they wore. As is well known, Eskimos depend upon the seals, the walrus, and an occasional whale, and other denizens of the sea; whereas the Indian proper depends upon the creatures of the land for a subsistence.

    The struggle for existence in either mode of life is severe and would necessarily produce many variations from the original type.

    All travelers report that the greatest antipathy exists between Eskimos and the Indians, who sometimes stray upon the hunting grounds of each other. The Eskimos are often at enmity, the one tribe with another. Nothing is better known than that neighboring tribes of Indians were constantly at war, which is the case with practically all uncivilized peoples, and also the practice is not unknown among those nations who claim to be the leaders of civilization.

    It is well known that uncivilized peoples who depend upon the chase for sustenance, are nearly always nomads, spending months at a time on distant journeys, following up the game which furnishes them food and raiment.

    How easy would it be for a tribe forced up the Yukon by its enemies, or which should take a notion to spy out a happier hunting ground, to go in their canoes to the upper reaches of the Yukon in the summer time. Here they would find not only an abundance of fish in the river and its tributaries, as well as water fowl, but at certain seasons of the year there were to be found millions of caribou, as well as the lordly moose, not to mention other game. It is true the caribou migrate and at times go to the south, but it is well known that savage people follow migrating animals, and by following these to their winter homes it  would be but a short step to find the countless herds of North American buffalo or bison, which stretched from Arctic America to the Gulf of Mexico.

    Again it is but 112 miles from the upper point of navigation on the headwaters of the Yukon to Skagway on the Pacific Ocean, where the sea never freezes over, and how easy would it be for the aborigines to cross the intervening range of mountains is shown from the fact that it is now crossed on a railway train.

    The Peace River country now in British Columbia, though far north, has a comparatively mild climate, owing to the warm Chinook winds which blow over the Japan currents of the Pacific and reach that country. This country would be a kind of halfway house between the arctic regions and the warmer parts of the country stretching toward the far South, for migrating bands of savages.

    In considering the possibility or probability of the settlement in America of the Indians, first coming across by way of Bering Strait, we should not consider the subject from the standpoint of a few hundred years, but upon the assumption that in all probability it took some thousands of years for the settlement of the American continents.

    Given sufficient time the dispersion might well cover the whole continent; and as a climate, the productions of the soil, and other conditions which make it easier to subsist and give leisure for thought and reflection have always been the means by which men have first discarded savagery and laid the foundation stone for ultimate civilization, we can realize why it was that there once existed in Peru and Mexico a civilization unknown on the North American continent.  

    The warm climate and other favoring conditions in those parts of America where there once existed a prehistoric civilization have often been compared to like climatic conditions in the valley of the Nile and of the Euphrates and Tigris, where, so far as we know, our civilization had its beginning.

    It may be remarked here that the Natchez Indians who  gave their name to the city of Natchez in southern Mississippi on the banks of the great river of that name were further advanced in their form of government and an organized society than any other tribe of Indians who dwelt within the boundaries of the United States. No doubt the warm climate and favoring conditions of life were prime factors in the elevation of this unfortunate people, who were almost exterminated by the French, and as we will see, the remnants of that once noted tribe found an asylum and a home among the intrepid Chickasaws, who haughtily and successfully defied all the powers of the French when they demanded the surrender of the Natchez from the Chickasaws.

    I have never seen the ruins of South or Central America that have been uncovered and so extensively written about and photographed, especially in these later years.

    I passed on the train near the earth pyramids not far from Mexico City, and saw in that city the great Calendar stone and other remnants of a past civilization. In the same year (1908) we went down to the State of Oaxaca, far south of Mexico City, to see the ruins of Mitla, which are not far distant from Oaxaca. No one can view these ruins except with feelings of astonishment ; and yet we are told that when Cortez first passed through that country about 1520, that the half barbarous people who lived near these ruins had no more knowledge as to who were the builders of the splendid solid stone edifice which once adorned that country than have the half-naked Indians we saw there.

    Between the city of Oaxaca and the ruins of Mitla stands the celebrated Tule tree, said to be the oldest and largest tree in the world. It measures 154 feet in circumference and was of sufficient importance to attract the attention of Alexander Von Humboldt, who placed a tablet on the tree commemorative of his visit (as I remember) in 1804, a part of which has been covered by new growth of the tree, which still continues to grow.

    It was on this trip that Humboldt traveled over South America, and thence northward up through Central America,  Mexico, and into the United States. He traveled over most of the world, especially through the remote and uncivilized countries, was learned in almost every branch of knowledge and was one of the greatest intellectualities of the nineteenth century. Probably no man was better capacitated to express an opinion as to the origin of the American Indians than Humboldt.

    In Vol. i, p. 13, of The Great Republic by Master Historians, Humboldt is quoted as saying:

    “It appears most evident to me that the monuments, methods of computing time, systems of cosmogony, and many myths of America, offer striking analogies with the ideas of eastern Asia—analogies which indicate an ancient communication, and are not simply the result of that uniform condition in which all nations are found in the dawn of civilization.”

    When Cortez with fire and sword and a savagery rivaling Attila, “The Scourge of God,” destroyed the Montezumas of Mexico City, at the same time and under the plea of destroying paganism and extending the Christian religion he likewise destroyed all the records of the civilization which he found in Mexico. In all probability the loss caused by this destruction robbed mankind of the only clue which might have led to a knowledge of the origin of the American aborigines.

    In the present state of knowledge, the conclusion of Humboldt is about all that can now be said with any degree of certainty upon this most interesting subject.

    
    


AS TO THE ORIGIN OF THE CHICKASAW NATION

~

    
    AS WE HAVE SEEN, THE origin of the race of the American Indian is wrapped in mystery, so likewise when we endeavor to trace the early history of the Chickasaw nation as an integral part of the Indian race, we will likewise find that we are without authentic history and must depend upon legends and traditions as our only sources of information.

    I am by no means unmindful of the weakness, not to say untrustworthiness, of this kind of evidence; nevertheless, having no other, we will briefly look to these sources as furnishing some slight indication as to the earliest home of the Chickasaws. 

    There are several versions as to the manner in which the Chickasaws reached their home in what is now north Mississippi, and there found an abiding place. De Soto was the first white man to enter their country in December, 1540, and there they were again found, after the lapse of more than a century, by the first white men who explored their country.

    It seems to me that these traditions point to Old Mexico as the original home of the Chickasaws.

    I have referred to Adair as an authority on Chickasaw history, and next to him, I regard H. B. Cushman as probably the most reliable of those who have given accounts of the Chickasaws.   Lincecum is also a good authority.

    In 1899 Cushman published a volume of 607 pages, entitled History of the Choctaw, Chickasaw, and Natchez Indians, the Greenville, Texas, Headlight Printing House being the publisher, the paper being very poor but the type good. I had difficulty in procuring a copy of the book, which I finally did  through the efforts of my friend, W. W. Alsobrook, who had resided many years in Greenville, and who was told by a niece of Cushman that he died in 1904.

    Cushman states that his parents left Massachusetts in 1820, and went to the Choctaw Indians as missionaries, among whom they labored the balance of their lives, and died the sincere and admiring friends of the red men of the forest; that he was reared among the Indians and was intimately acquainted with them during the vicissitudes of a life extending to near four score of years; that he had obtained in these years a fund of information not theretofore published, and he evidently deemed it a sacred duty to place it in permanent form for the benefit of posterity, and especially in justice to the Indians whom he admired and loved so much. 

    The wrongs and injustices towards the Indians by white men evidently so oppressed the mind and sympathies of Cushman that throughout his lengthy book he constantly declaims against the oppressors of the Indians, and in this way detracts from the value of his conclusions as an impartial historian. However, his perfect sincerity and honesty of purpose in stating exactly what he saw and heard cannot be doubted.

    There is no index or even chapters to his book, and it would seem that the one thought constantly with him was to put in permanent form not only all he knew about the Choctaws, Chickasaws, and Natchez Indians but to weave into his book what he knew of other Indians, together with his conclusions with respect to the treatment of the Indians in general by the white men of this country.

    The first 414 pages of the book are devoted to the Choctaws; the next 115 pages to the Chickasaws, and the remainder to the Natchez Indians, and various other subjects.

    I have thus referred to Adair, Cushman, and Lincecum, because I intend to quote from them liberally as authentic sources of information, which I do the more readily as the first two are practically out of the reach of the general reading public.

    How the Indians Preserved Historical Events—

    The impression is general that the Indians were without any means of recording matters of great interest or import, and that they depended entirely upon their memories in transmitting current events to posterity, but Cushman says:

    “As aids to memory they used various devices, among which belts of wampum were the chief. Wampum was truly the archives of the tribe among all North American Indians. It was made of dressed deer skin, soft and pliable as cloth, and interwoven with various shells cut into uniform size, carefully polished, strung together and painted in different colors, all of which were significant; white being the emblem of peace and friendship; red, the symbol of hostility and war. As the colors of the wampum were significant, so also were the length and breadth of these belts, and also the peculiar arrangements of the differently painted strings attached, each and all fully understood by the Indians alone. A belt of wampum was presented to one tribe by another as a remembrance token of any important event that was communicated. They had many and various kinds of wampum; some in the form of belts of different breadth and length; some in strings of various width and length, all reaching back in regular order to centuries of the remote past, with an accuracy incredible to the White Race.

    “The wampum was the Indians’ history, the chronicles of the past; and the leaders of each clan of the tribe, from one generation to another, were carefully and thoroughly instructed by their predecessors for that particular business and were held in the highest esteem by all Indians everywhere.

    “Pictures, rudely carved on rocks and trees, were used to convey information, each figure being a true symbol understood and fully comprehended by the Indians wherever seen.” 

    It is evident that this mode of recording current events was far from perfect, and was liable to many misinterpretations.

    Traditions of a Western Origin—

    All agree, however, that the Chickasaws belonged to the Muskhogean family of Indians, the family name being spelled  variously, as Muscogee, Muskogee, Muskhogies, Muscogulgee, etc.

    The principal nations composing the Muskhogeans were the Chickasaws, Choctaws, Creek and Chockchoomas ; and the country occupied by them extended from the gulf of Mexico up the east side of the Mississippi River, then up the Ohio to the dividing ridge between the Tennessee and Cumberland Rivers, and on eastward to the Atlantic Ocean. East Tennessee and the mountainous portions of Georgia, Virginia, and Kentucky were occupied by the warlike and fierce Cherokees, who constituted a Southern branch of the Iroquois Indians, whose main country lay further north.

    There were included in the above general description of the Muskhogean country many small tribes who were not Muskhogeans; such as the noted Natchez Indians, the Biloxis, Tunicas, Tensas, Yazoos, Koroas, and Pascagoulas, but the members of these tribes were for the most part inconsiderable, while the Muskhogeans were much larger and warlike, often fighting each other.

    There appears to have been a well-defined tradition among all the Muskhogeans, pointing to the West, and probably Old Mexico as their former home. It is of interest here to recall that the great Cherokee Indian, Sequoyah, conceived the idea that by tracing out some common idioms in the various Indian languages, he could eventually determine the origin of the Cherokees and other Indians; and in his old age he traveled to the far West and was overtaken by death at the advanced age of eighty-two, among the mountains of Tamaulipas, Mexico.

    Adair says the Choctaws and Chickasaws were the descendants of a people called Chickemacaws ; who were among the first inhabitants of the Mexican empire; and at an ancient period wandered eastward with a tribe of Indians called Choccomaws, and finally crossed the Mississippi River with ten thousand warriors.

    Cushman supposes that the names Choctaw and Chickasaw were derived from the above names, and says that in 1820 the  aged Choctaws related to the missionaries that their ancestors in a remote period dwelt in the far West, and being conquered and oppressed by a more powerful people, resolved to seek a new country, going to the East.

    A great council of the whole nation was called, and after great deliberation and much discussion, the nation started forth under the leadership of two brothers, Chahtah and Chikasah, both equally renowned for their bravery in war and their wisdom in council.

    After much prayer and supplication, the Great Spirit had revealed to their chief medicine men and prophets that they should erect a pole (Fa-bus-sah in their language) in the midst of their camp, standing straight up, and that each morning they should carefully observe the way it leaned and follow in that direction, and the first morning, as it leant to the east, they started on their long journey toward the rising sun. 

    Each night the pole was set up in the midst of the camp, alternately by the brothers, Chahtah and Chikasah, and each morning it still pointed to the east, and for months they passed over plains, mountains and through forests, much of the country abounding in game and inviting the pilgrims to settle there, but the talismanic pole continued to point eastward and the nation followed its silent admonitions.

    Says Cushman :

    “After many months of wearisome travel, suddenly a vast body of flowing water stretched its mighty arm athwart in their path. With unfeigned astonishment they gathered in groups upon its banks and gazed upon its turbid waters. Never before had they even heard of, or in all their wanderings stumbled upon, aught like this. Whence its origin? Where its terminus? This is surely the Great Father, the true source of all waters, whose age is wrapt in the silence of the unknown past, ages beyond all calculation, and as they then and there named it ‘Misha Sipokni’ (Beyond Age, whose source and terminus are unknown). * * * Is Misha Sipokni to be the terminus of their toils?   Are the illimitable forests that so lovingly embraced  in their wide extended arms its restless waters to be their future homes? Not so. Silent and motionless, still as ever before, it bows to the east and its mandate, ‘Onward, beyond Misha Sipokni,’ is accepted without a murmur; and at once they proceed to construct canoes and rafts by which, in a few weeks, all were safely landed upon its eastern banks, whence again was resumed their eastward march, and so continued until they stood upon the western banks of the Yazoo River and once more encamped for the night; and, as had been done for many months before, ere evening began to unfold her curtains, and twilight had spread o’er all her mystic light, the Fabussa (now truly their Delphian oracle) was set up; but ere the morrow’s sun had plainly lit up the eastern horizon, many anxiously watching eyes that early rested upon its straight, slender, silent form, observed it stood erect as when set up the evening before, and then was borne upon the morning breeze throughout the vast sleeping encampment, the joyful acclamation! ‘Fohah hupishno Yak! Fohah hupishno Yak!’ (Pro. as Fo-hah, Rest, hup-ish-noh, we, all of us, Yak, here.)

    “Now their weary pilgrimage was ended, and flattering hope portrayed their future destiny in the. bright colors of peace, prosperity, and happiness. Then, as commemorative of this great event in their national history, they threw up a large mound embracing three acres of land and rising forty feet in a conical form, with a deep hole about ten feet in diameter excavated on the top, and all enclosed by a ditch encompassing nearly twenty acres. After its completion, it was discovered not to be erect, but a little leaning, and they named it Nunih (mountain or mound) Waiyah (leaning), pro. as Nunih Wai-yah.

    “This relic of the remote past still stands half buried in the accumulated rubbish of years, unknown, disfigured also by the desecrating touch of Time, which has plainly left his fingermarks of decay upon it, blotting out its history, with all others of its kind—those memorials of ages past erected by the true native American, about which so much has been said in conjecture, and so much written in speculation, that all now naturally turn to anything from their modern conjectures and speculations with much doubt and great misgivings.” 

    Some years afterwards, Chahtah and Chikasah disagreed on some question of state, and decided to separate with their respective followers, the choice of the countries to be decided by a. game of chance, with the result that the northern part of the country fell to Chikasah and his people, while the southern part fell to Chahtah and his followers.

    Did the Separation Take Place in the West—

    Dr. Gideon Lincecum lived among the Choctaws for years, and spoke their language fluently, and his autobiography will be found in VIII Publications, Mississippi Historical Society Papers, at page 443 ; and page 521 of the same volume there is an interesting account by Dr. Lincecum of the Choctaw traditions about their settlement in Mississippi, and the origin of their mounds, the account extending to page 542.

    On page 543 of the same volume, Harry Warren also has an interesting article on “Chickasaw Traditions, Customs, etc.” While differing as to some of the details, still the accounts given by these three authors, and also that of Schoolcraft, as quoted by Warren, agree in the main, one important exception being that, according to Lincecum, the separation between Chahtah and Chikasah took place long before they reached their new home, for he says:

    “About thirty winters after they had stopped at Nunih Waya, a party of hunters who had progressed a little further north than usual, fell in with a camp of hunters belonging to the Chickasha tribe. After finding that they spoke the same language with themselves, the Chahtahs approached their camp in a friendly manner, and remained several days. The older men amongst them being familiar with the traditional history of the journeyings of their respective tribes, took much pleasure in communicating to each other an account of their travels. From the point where the two tribes separated, the Chickashas  diverged widely to the left, found an extremely rough and scarce country for some time, but at last, emerging from the mountains on to the wide spread plains, they found the buffalo and other game plentiful. They continued to travel with only an occasional halt, to rest the women and the feeble ones, until they came to the great river, at the place called by them sakti ahlopulli (bluff crossing)— ‘White people call it now Chickasaw Bluffs,’ said the old man. They made shift to cross the great river, and traveling onward,  the leader’s pole came to a stand at a place called Chickasha Old Town in a high and beautiful country. The leader’s pole stood at this place three winters, at the end of which time the pole was found leaning to the northeast. They set out again and crossed another big river (little prairie near Huntsville, Ala.). The pole remained there erect only one winter. At mulberry time the ensuing summer, the pole was found leaning almost directly to the south. They packed up, and crossing many bold running rivers, the pole still leaning onward, until they came to a large river, near where it emptied into the great okhuta (ocean).

    “At this beautiful country (below where Savannah, Georgia, now stands), the pole stood erect many winters. The fish, opa haksum, oko folush (oysters, clams), and all manner of shell fish and fowl and small game were plentiful. The people obtained full supplies of provisions with but little labor. In the process of time, however, the people became sickly, and they were visited with a very great plague. They called the plague hoita lusa (black vomit), because the people died, vomiting black matter resembling powdered fire coals and fish slime. All that took it were sick but a day or two and died so fast that the people became frightened and ran off, leaving great numbers of the dead unburied. They followed the leader’s pole back nearly over the same route they went, until finally they returned to the place where the pole made its first stand (Chickasha Old Towns). Here it stood again, and remained erect until it rotted.”

    Is it not almost a certainty that the great plague referred to was what in later years was known as the dreaded yellow fever, which, from time to time, decimated that coast until science decreed its doom?

    There are other evidences that the Chickasaws once lived near where Savannah, Georgia, now is and the sea coast, and it is a fact that they laid claim to a scope of country in that vicinity before Congress as late as 1795.

    It is also true that the Chickasaws, or a part of them, once lived at the Mussel Shoals, now in north Alabama, a fact stated by Piomingo at the Great Conference in Nashville in 1792, in giving the boundaries of the Chickasaw country.

    There is one other interesting feature of the above quotation from Lincecum, and that is, that the Chickasaws first crossed the  great river at the Chickasaw Bluffs, presumably where Memphis now stands.

    Since the foregoing was printed, I became acquainted with Honorable Charles D. Carter, through a correspondence, he being a Chickasaw by birth, and a member of Congress for many years from Oklahoma, of whom I will hereafter have occasion to refer with more particularity.

    Mr. Carter sent me the version which he heard many years ago, but I regret that space forbids its insertion here as an entirety. It is interesting to note, however, that, according to the legend of Mr. Carter, the bones of the dead already referred to were deposited west of the Mississippi, where the parting of the Chickasaws and Choctaws took place. That when the traveling hosts first saw the great river, they were amazed, one of the oldest and wisest prophets exclaiming, “Misha Sipokani,” literally translated “beyond the ages,” but figuratively meaning “the father of all its kind,” distorted in its pronunciation by the white man, in all probability, into the name “Mississippi,” with a free translation as meaning “the father of waters.” Mr. Carter then closes the legend in these words:

    “They camped for the night on the banks of the great river, and since the leader’s pole still leaned toward the east, the young men began to make rafts and canoes for crossing the river and proceeding on their journey. When the crossing was finally attempted, the little white dog which had so faithfully kept his course toward the rising sun was drowned, and upon reaching the opposite bank of the river, the sacred pole, after wobbling around and pointing in many directions, finally stood erect, and the medicine men interpreted this as an omen that the promised land had been reached.

    “Scouting expeditions were sent out by nearly all the clans in search of game and other food and to ascertain the exact character of country to which the Great Spirit had led them. Finally the head man of a certain clan, the members of which were described as taller and of fairer skin than the rest of the tribe, appeared before the general council and asserted that, according to his best information and judgment, the promised land had not yet been reached, that a much better country, more productive in soil, more bountiful in game, fruit, and fish, lay somewhat to the north and still farther toward the rising sun. After debating the question for many hours a vote was taken as to whether the move should be made, and it was decided by a large majority that the desired place had been reached and that no further move was necessary. Upon hearing the vote, the leader of the taller and fairer clan rose up and, striding majestically out of the council, dramatically uttered the following words:

    “‘All those who believe the promised land is further towards the rising sun follow me.’

    “His entire clan arose and went with him, but few others. Upon seeing this the Choctaw warriors and some of their head men grabbed their spears, tomahawks, and bows and arrows as if to restrain this clan by force. But the old head minko arose, extended his hand above his head, palm out, and exclaimed:

    ‘"Hamonockma, ikia ahnishke, chickasha!’ (Halt, follow them not, they are rebels!)

    “Thus the division of the Choctaws and Chickasaws into two separate tribes came about, and on account of the old chief’s reference to them as ‘rebels,’ this taller and fairer tribe were ever thereafter known as ‘Chickasha.’”

    I must confess that I was much impressed with this version as to the circumstances under which it is said this parting of the Chickasaws and Choctaws took place. It is at least in keeping with the known after characteristics of the two nations.

    As far as authentic sources of information extend, the Chickasaws have always been a comparatively small nation, but imperious, warlike, and, as many of the earlier travelers say, overbearing and aggressive. We know that the Choctaws, while always far exceeding them in numbers, feared them, and that the Chickasaws were inclined to treat them with disdain.

    According to the version of Mr. Carter, the name Chickasaw, or as written in the legend Chickasha, means rebel, and is somewhat descriptive of Chickasaw characteristics. 

    The Indians Were the Mound Builders—

    There is one feature of the migration legends treated at lnegth by Lincecum that seems to have been overlooked or not  treated by Cushman; and that is, the bringing by the Indians of vast quantities of the bones of their deceased ancestors to their new home.

    According to Lincecum, who claimed to have derived all of his information from the wise men of the Choctaws, the migration covered a period of forty-three years, and the people were loaded down with the bones of their ancestors to such an extent as to make further progress almost impossible.

    A safe depository for the repose of these bones was one of the chief reasons for building the great mound in their new home, as well as to raise a monument to their triumphant march and successful settlement towards the rising sun.

    Commencing at page 529, Lincecum says:

    “Men were then appointed to select an appropriate place for the mound to be erected on, and to direct the work while in progress. They selected a level piece of sandy land, not far from the middle creek; laid it off in an oblong square and raised the foundation by piling up earth which they dug up some distance to the north of the foundation. It was raised and made level as high as a man’s head and beat down very hard. It was then floored with cypress bark before the work of placing the sacks of bones commenced. The people gladly brought forward and deposited their bones until there were none left. The bones of themselves had built up an immense mound. They brought the cypress bark, which was neatly placed on, till the bone sacks were all closely covered in, as dry as a tent. While the tool carriers were working with the bark, women and children and all the men, except the hunters, carried earth continually, until the bark was all covered from sight, constituting a mound half as high as the tallest forest tree.”

    In a note to page 530, he says:

    “I visited this celebrated mound in 1843. I found it rounded off, oblong square, 200 yards in circumference at its base, eighty feet in height, with a flat space on the top fifty-two yards in length by twenty-five yards in width. The whole mound was thickly set with large forest trees ; 200 yards to the north of it is a  lake, which I suppose to be the place whence they carried the earth to construct the mound.”

    Lincecum further set forth that he further learned that, in the remote past, the Chickasaws were threatening an invasion of the Choctaw country, when a great council was called, which resolved to and did build a great wall around their two principal mounds, also enclosing a space sufficient to contain all the women and children, as well as the aged and infirm, in case they were besieged. The wall was built of the height of two men, and had in it only two openings, one on the east and the other on the west, of five steps each in width, for the egress and ingress of the people until Nunih Waya should be actually invaded by the enemy.

    In a note to page 542 Lincecum says:

    “I went all round this earth wall in 1843. It seemed to be a complete circle, and from one and a half to two miles in circumference, the southeastern portion cutting the bluff of Nunih Waya Creek. Many places in the wall were still eight feet in height.   The two gaps in the wall had never been filled up.”

    Both Cushman and Lincecum attest that even in their day there were professional bone pickers, whose duties consisted in removing all the flesh of deceased Choctaws from the bones, which were carefully and religiously stored away in mounds, or rather, they were laid away in the common mausoleum of the Choctaws, each addition being carefully covered with earth until the mounds often reached large proportions.

    Quoting his Choctaw informant, Lincecum says:

    “Now, my white friend, I have explained to you the origin, and who it was that built the great number of mounds that are found scattered over this wide land. The circular conic mounds are all graves, and mark the spot where the persons for whom they were built breathed their last breath. There being no bone pickers at the hunting camps to handle the dead, the body was never touched, or moved from the death posture.   Just as  it lay, or sat, as the case might be, it was covered up, first with either stones, pebbles or sand, and finished off with earth. In this way the custom of mound graves originated from the great mound graves, Nunih Waya, and it prevailed with the Choctaw people until the white man came with his destructive sense-killing ‘fire water’ and made the people all drunk.” 

    Of course there were other structures erected for defensive and warlike purposes, such as the construction of the wall described by Lincecum.

    Traditions Also Point to an Asiatic Origin—

    I will here quote at large from Cushman, which indicates an Asiatic origin for the Chickasaws, according to tradition, as follows:

    “The ancient traditions of the Cherokees, as well as the ancient traditions of the Muscogees (Creeks) and the Natchez, also point back to Mexico as the country from which they, in a period long past, moved to their ancient possessions east of the Mississippi River. But whether they preceded the Choctaws and Chickasaws, or came after, their traditions are silent.

    “Milfort (page 269) says: Big Warrior, Chief of the Cherokees, as late as 1822, not only confirms their traditions that Mexico was their native country, but goes back to a more remote period for their origin, and claims that his ancestors came from Asia, crossing Behring Straits in their canoes; thence down the Pacific Coast to Mexico; thence to the country east of the Mississippi River, where they were first known to the Europeans.

    “Mr. Gaines, United States Agent to the Choctaws in 1810, asked Apushamatahaubi (pro. Ar-push-ah-ma-tar-hah-ub-ih), the most renowned chief of the Choctaws since their acquaintance with the white race, concerning the origin of his people, who replied: ‘Ahattaktikba bushi-aioktulla hosh hopaki fehna moma ka minti’ (pro. as Arn (my) hut-tark-tik-ba (forefather) hush-ih ai-o-kah-tullah (the west), mo-mah (all) meen-tih (came) ho-par-kih (far) feh-nah (very).

    “And the same response was always given by all the ancient Choctaws living east of the Mississippi River, when the inquiry  was made of them, Whence their origin? By this they only referred to the country in which their forefathers long dwelt prior to their exodus to the east of the Mississippi River; as they also had a tradition that their forefathers came from a country beyond the ‘Big Waters’ far to the northwest, crossing a large body of water in their canoes of a day’s travel, thence down the Pacific coast to Mexico, the same as the Cherokees.

    “In conversation with an aged Choctaw in the year 1884 (Robert Nail, a long known friend) upon the subject, he confirmed the tradition by stating that his people came first from Asia by way of the Behring Straits. He was a man well versed in geography, being taught in boyhood by the missionaries prior to their removal from their eastern homes to their present abode north of Texas. The Muscogees, Shawnees, Delawares, Chippeways, and other tribes also have the same traditions pointing beyond Behring Straits to Asia as the land whence their forefathers came in ages past. Some of their traditions state that they crossed the Strait on the ice, the Chippeways for one, but the most, according to their traditions, crossed in their canoes. But that the ancestors of the North American Indians came at some unknown period in the remote past from Asia to the North American continent, there can be no doubt.”

    Conclusion—

    From the foregoing, I think it may be safely concluded that the Chickasaws, Choctaws, and in fact the entire Muskhogean family, in remote times came to the country now comprising the Gulf States and reaching to the Atlantic Ocean, from the far west, and in all probability from what is now the Mexican republic, and more remotely from Asia.

    The legends and traditions to this effect had become a part of the religious history of the Indians. The wanderings of the Indians, under the leadership of Chahtah and Chickasah in quest of a new home, and their many privations and sufferings were not only as real, but as sacred to them, and of as deep a religious signification, as is the forty years of wandering in the wilderness of the Jews under Moses and Joshua, to the Israelites and the Christian world at the present time.

    A great national event of such a character sinks deep into the consciousness of a people and will persist through ages.

    In addition to the wampum device, already noticed, for the preservation of historical facts, it was the custom of the Chickasaws and Choctaws to select, say, about twenty youths of each generation, who were carefully instructed by their wise men in their past history as well as in all things deemed advisable for the public wellbeing.

    If it be said that there are too many variations or differences in the traditions so handed down from generation to generation, then it may be truly replied that such variations are inseparable attendants upon all efforts to preserve records of past events.

    Thus, the four gospels recording the life and teachings of Jesus of Nazareth vary in many particulars, although he spoke as never man spake. However, taken as a whole, the gospels are complete.

    While Indian traditions fall in rank far below the written history of any civilized people, still my conclusion is as indicated above.

    The suggestion of Cushman that the Muskhogeans were driven from Mexico by the fire and sword of the marauder Cortez is entirely untenable, when we reflect that the expedition of De Soto was only some twenty years later than that of Cortez ; and that when De Soto passed the winter of 1540-1541 with the Chickasaws, they appear to have been well seated at their homes, and there was nothing to indicate that they had recently been driven from Mexico.

    
    


THE DAWN OF HISTORY FOR THE CHICKASAWS

~

    
    THE SIXTEENTH CENTURY OPENED WITH the dawn of brighter days for civilized man throughout the world. A new world had been discovered, a quickening impulse had been given to art, science was awakening, and the diffusion of knowledge becoming more general, the renaissance was flowering into a fuller fruition. The shackles of ignorance and superstition which had bound the minds and hearts of mankind with far more rigor and cruelty than the iron which bound their bodies were being gradually unloosened; still centuries were to elapse before men were to be indeed really free, a consummation not even yet fully realized.

    The spirit of adventure and discovery, like a young Hercules, was rejoicing in its vigor and achievements.

    Soon Pizarro in Peru, Pedrarias in Central America, and Cortez in Mexico had overrun and devastated these countries; and returning to Spain brought enormous wealth, which excited the imagination, and it may be added the cupidity, of mankind.

    There had been born in Xerez (otherwise Jerez), in Spain, of a noble family, but without fortune, a boy named Hernandez, sometimes written Fernandez, and which is the equivalent for the English Hernando. It appears he lived at a place in Spain called Soto, and following the customs of those days he was, in after years, called Hernando De Soto; that is Hernando of Soto. He possessed talents more valuable than wealth, having a clear and vigorous understanding, a quick apprehension, and courage of the highest order, which made him a born ruler of men. He enlisted as a soldier of fortune in the Peru and Central American Expeditions; was a captain in Nicaragua, lieutenant-general in the conquest of Peru, and returning to Spain it is reported he brought with him, as his part of the spoils, one hundred thousand  peso de oro, equivalent to about three hundred thousand dollars, an almost incredible fortune for those days.

    He was liberal and lavish of his wealth, lending a large sum to the emperor, and drew around him many of the most daring and ablest young noblemen and adventurers, some of them also of great wealth.

    Being now in the vigor of life De Soto appears to have resided in Xerez, and at court, probably, he met the widow of Pedrarias, with whom he had been acquainted in Nicaragua, first cousin to the celebrated Marchioness of Moya, lady-of-honor and life-long favorite of Ysabel of Castilla. With her he contracted for a love marriage with her daughter, named after her, Ysabel de Bobadilla, and De Soto sent her a wedding gift of six thousand ducats.

    As showing the devotion of the young wife, it may be remarked that she accompanied De Soto on his ill-fated expedition to Florida as far as Cuba; that after waiting in vain for three years in expectancy of a happy reunion, she died of a broken heart in three days after hearing of the death of her lord in the wilds of America, and his burial in the great Mississippi River, which is inseparably linked with his name.

    Having achieved his highest ambitions in the land of his nativity, De Soto looked with longing eyes again to the new world, and dreamed of the acquisition of still greater wealth and the building of a new empire in Florida, a name denoting a vast and unexplored country, of indeterminate boundaries, co-extensive, probably, with one-half of the North American continent.

    In Florida Ponce de Leon had sought in vain for the fountain of youth, finding instead his own grave.

    Soon thereafter Cabeca de Vaca returned from Florida, stating that he and four others were the only survivors of the armament sent out under the command of Panfilo de Narvaez, to whom the “island of Florida” and the adjacent country had been granted, upon his successfully exploring and subduing the same.

    Like Ponce de Leon, de Narvaez found death in his attempted subjugation of Florida; but these failures but fired the imagination and strengthened the purpose of De Soto to achieve the conquest of Florida.

    The details of this great enterprise is outside the scope of this sketch. Suffice it to say that, in consideration of the fitting out of an armament and the conquest and colonization of Florida, the emperor was to grant many concessions to De Soto, who was then made governor of Florida, and when successful in his enterprise, he was to be governor and captain-general, with the dignity of Adelantado for life, and high sheriff in perpetuity to his heirs, over a part of the conquered country.

    DeSoto Lands in Florida—

    On Friday, May 30, 1539, De Soto disembarked his expeditionary force, which consisted, according to Biedma, of 620 men, 223 horses, besides many hogs, and equipments necessary for such an extensive expedition, the landing being made in the vicinity of the present Tampa, Florida.

    Quite soon after the expedition began its journey, it was so fortunate as to find with the Indians a Spaniard named Juan Ortiz, who had been captured nine years before while a member of the Narvaez expedition. He was entirely naked, brown, and in appearance an Indian, speaking their language fluently, which made him almost invaluable as an interpreter. His duplicity when the expedition reached the country of the Chickasaws was one of the causes that came near destroying the entire army.

    The one thing that led the expedition ever onward, further and further, was the expectation of finding gold and silver and other treasures; in short they were seeking a new El Dorado.

    They had only gone a few leagues on their journey when they came to the Province of Paracoxi, and the Gentleman of Elvas says :

    “They were asked if they had knowledge or information of any country where gold and silver might be found in plenty; to  which they answered yes; that towards the sunset was a Province called Cale, the inhabitants of which were at war with those of territories where the greater portion of the year was summer, and where there was so much gold that when the people came to make war upon those of Cale, they wore golden hats like casques.

    “As the cacique had not come, Gallegos, reflecting, suspected the message designed for delay, that he might put himself in a condition of safety; and fearing that, if those men were suffered to depart, they might never return, he ordered them to be chained together, and sent the news to camp by eight men on horseback. The governor, hearing what had passed, showed great pleasure, as did the rest who were with him, believing what the Indians said might be true.”

    This naive statement of the untutored red men furnishes an example of the manner in which the Indians sought to get rid of their unwelcome visitors; or in the lingo of the cantonments in these war times, they were simply “passing the buck” to De Soto and his men.

    From the four narratives it is next to impossible to mark out with any degree of precision the route followed by De Soto in his wanderings; but it is reasonably certain, speaking in present day geographical terms, that he passed northward from Florida into Georgia and possibly into South Carolina; thence northwest, and in crossing upper Georgia, De Soto sent two Spaniards with Indians northward to the Province of Chisca, for he was told by the cacique of Acoste that in the Province of Chisca there was a forge

    “for copper or other metal of that color, though brighter, having a much finer hue, and was to appearances much better, but was not so much used for being softer; which was the statement that had been given in Cutifachiqui, where we had seen some chopping-knives that were said to have a mixture of gold” (Elvas, p. 77.)

    It is generally agreed that this Chisca was in Tennessee; but it was not in middle Tennessee, where the map Bourne attached  to Vol. 2 of his Trail Makers places it. The pioneers in east Tennessee found near what is now Ducktown, in Polk County, an extremely rich copper district, which for years and now is being worked with great profit. Of course no gold was found, a fact not referred to by the two Spaniards, though they did report that the mountains were so high, “it was impossible the army should march in that direction”; and the same mountains stand this day, barring the approach to the copper district from the south, precisely as they did to the army of De Soto, now near four hundred years ago.

    The expedition then went southwestward until it came to Mauilla, near where Mobile, Alabama, now is; and there a great battle with the Indians was fought. It was the most disastrous to the expedition up to that time, the results of which are stated by Elvas :

    “They who perished there were in all two thousand five hundred, a few more or less; of the Christians there fell eighteen, among whom was Don Carlos, brother-in-law of the governor; one Juan de Gamez, a nephew; Men Rodriguez, a Portuguese; and Juan Vazquez, of Villanueva de Barcarota, men of condition and courage ; the rest were infantry. Of the living, one hundred and fifty Christians had received seven hundred wounds from the arrow; and God was pleased that they should be healed in little time of very dangerous injuries. Twelve horses died, and seventy were hurt. The clothing the Christians carried with them, the ornaments for saying mass, and the pearls, were burned there; they having set the fire themselves, because they considered the loss less than the injury they might receive of the Indians from within the houses, where they had brought the things together.

    “The governor learning in Mauilla that Francisco Maldonado was waiting for him in the port of Ochuse, six days’ travel distant, he caused Juan Ortiz to keep the news secret, that he might not be interrupted in his purpose; because the pearls he wished to send to Cuba for show, that their fame might raise the desire of coming to Florida, had been lost, and he feared that, hearing of him without seeing either gold or silver, or other things of value

    from that land, it would come to have such reputation that no one would be found to go there when men should be wanted; so he determined to send no news of himself until he should have discovered a rich country.”

    This was a fatal decision for De Soto in his search for riches. He had lost up to this time 102 of his faithful followers, and was eventually to lose his own life in the wilderness.

    However, as he was seeking fame, he soon found it; for in the discovery of the Mississippi River he more surely enrolled his name in the annals of fame than if he had discovered mines of silver and gold richer than all his dreams of avarice.

    DeSoto Reaches the Chickasaws—

    With both interest and pleasure we come now to follow in the footsteps of De Soto to the land of the Chickasaws. By some strange imperfection in the histories which have covered the countries where the Chickasaws formerly dwelt, scant notice has been given to that noble nation; and the debt of gratitude due to them from the English-speaking world has never been duly acknowledged. Some historians are like less learned people in at least one respect; and that is, they sometimes copy or repeat what others have said, without an inquiry into original sources of information. Error thus becomes self-propagating. Of this the Chickasaws have a right to complain, as well as all who are interested to know where De Soto discovered the Great Mississippi River, an event of world-wide importance.

    We are indebted to Edward Gaylord Bourne, professor of history in Yale University, for the narratives of De Soto published “in the Trail Makers Series”; but he has fallen into errors which have been followed by others, as will appear more at large hereinafter.

    On the first page of his preface, and speaking of the importance of De Soto’s discoveries, he said :

    “It was the first extensive exploration of at least six of our Southern States, and their written history opens with the narratives which tell its story; these same narratives contain the earliest descriptions which we possess of the life and manners of the Southern Indians so famous in literature and history—the Choctaws, the Cherokees, the Creeks, and the Seminoles; these narratives also record the discovery of the Mississippi River and the story of the first voyage upon it by Europeans.”

    I commend what is said as to the historical value of De Soto’s discoveries; but if Bourne is that careful and dependable historian which some would have us believe, then why did he omit in the above statement to mention the Chickasaw Indians, the only tribe mentioned in the De Soto narratives which can be identified by the name attributed to them by the De Soto narratives, and which they bear to this day?

    Elvas and Ranjel wrote their name Chicaca; Biedma and Garcilaso, Chicaza; Adair, who knew them in 1735, and lived with them, wrote it Chickkasah; the great John Wesley in 1736 wrote it Chickasaws, while we now write the name Chickasaw, the name thus identifying this tribe, and this tribe only by name, of all those visited by De Soto, who found them at precisely the same place, where they continued to live until their removal to the Indian Territory in 1836.

    The De Soto narratives will be searched in vain for any of the names Choctaw, Cherokee, Creek, or Seminole, or any near approach thereto. Why omit to mention not only the Indian nation which we know positively De Soto visited but which by its valor and superiority deserved especial notice; which entertained De Soto and supplied all his wants during a most severe winter; and when insulted and mistreated came near destroying the entire expedition?

    Does not such an omission and mistakes hereafter to be noted awaken a doubt as to the conclusions reached by those who make them as to matters of great moment, where others equally learned have come to a different conclusion?

    De Soto had lost up to the time he left Mauilla 102 of his faithful followers, and he turned northward, and on December 14, 1540, he came to the River Chucaca, evidently named for the Chickasaws, and now known as the Tombigbee.

    When De Soto indicated his purpose to cross the river, the Chickasaws disputed his passage; whereupon De Soto sent an Indian messenger to the cacique  “to say that if he wished his friendship he should quietly wait for him; but they killed the messenger before his eyes, and with loud yells departed.

    “He crossed the river the seventeenth of December, and arrived the same day at Chicaca, a small town of twenty houses. There the people underwent severe cold, for it was already winter, and snow fell; the greater number then were lying in the fields, it being before they had time to put up habitations. The land was thickly inhabited, the people living about over it as they do in Mauilla; and as it was fertile, the greater part being under cultivation, there was plenty of maize. So much grain was brought together as was needed for getting through with the season.”  (Elvas, p. 100.)

    The Original Chickasaws as They Were—

    We have followed De Soto into the land of the Chickasaws. He and his followers were the first white men to visit their country and to look into their faces. They were great travelers and ever on the alert, and the news that De Soto had put other Indians into chains and captivity, as well as the news of the battle at Mauilla, had doubtless reached the Chickasaws long before the expedition had reached their country. Biedma says the expedition was detained at the river three days before a passage was effected, which was finally accomplished and the expedition installed for the winter as shown above.

    It seems to me as this is the dawn of history for the Chickasaws, and that history not written by them, but by the Spaniards, who delighted to call themselves Christians, it is highly important to inquire what manner of people were the original Chickasaws who roamed the forest when first seen by white men. Here is a brief pen picture of that splendid race now almost extinct  in the course of a few years. The average citizen believes that our Chickasaws were a shiftless kind of savage, wandering over the country, living in bark or skin tepees and depending entirely upon the chase and fishing for a living. This is a very great mistake. They were a self-reliant, self-respecting people; and it may be added they required others to respect them. They had good houses, suitable to their conditions and means of building, to live in, those for the summer months being somewhat different from those they lived in for the winter, which were so constructed as to be warmer and more comfortable.  Their houses were not only clean, but their lives pure, and their women were gracious, many of them very handsome; and what is more important, they were chaste and pure, for Haywood, regarded as the father of history in Tennessee, assures us that no Chickasaw girl was ever known to give birth to a child before wedlock. Of how many so-called civilized people can this be said?

    And, moreover, there were no orphans in the Chickasaw nation ; nor was there need for an orphan asylum.

    It is true that fathers and mothers died, leaving little children, and the fathers were often slain in battle, but under their system of laws governing these matters, when a child became motherless and fatherless, then that child was immediately placed with some near designated relative able to care for the child, who became thereby adopted into this new family, and was as much a member thereof, and received the same love and care as the children born to the parents of the family. And the Chickasaws made no difference between these adopted children and those of their own blood. Are not these matters of family purity, and the loving care and solicitude lavished upon helpless orphanage, evidences of a nobility of character worthy of imitation even among the most civilized and refined people on this globe?

    At the same time the Chickasaw warriors were the bravest of the brave, and for fidelity of character they were the peers of any nation of ancient or modern times.   There was comparatively speaking, but a handful of them, estimated by various authorities, and at various times from 2,000 to 4,000 souls.

    The Choctaws, Creeks, and Cherokees mentioned by Bourne in the excerpt quoted above, each one of them, had as many warriors as the Chickasaws had warriors, women, and children, aged and infirm put together, and yet the Chickasaws were more than a match for any of these tribes, and defied all comers.

    Their home country and hunting grounds comprised the vast and splendid domain described by Piomingo hereinbefore quoted, over which they were the acknowledged overlords, and no Indian nation, however large, dared dispute their overlord-ship.

    As to their form of government, it was one of the purest democracies. There was a chief, sometimes called by writers a King, because his duties and prerogatives resembled those of a king. However, they were never guilty of the folly of having a hereditary ruling king, or other hereditary rulers or classes. A Chickasaw became chief or a subordinate chief, by the choice of the nation solely because he had achieved that distinction by deeds for the nation that entitled him to leadership. He enjoyed that distinction only so long as his merits entitled him thereto.

    They never went to war except after the most careful deliberation of all the warriors, followed by fasting and prayer to the “Beloved One that dwelleth in the blue sky,” for his aid and protection in the impending conflict. In war they neither gave or expected quarter, and would die at the burning stake without uttering a word of pain or a request for mercy.

    They were of a deeply religious nature, but superstition was a stranger to them.

    Unlike most uncivilized peoples, the appearance of a comet or an eclipse or an earthquake brought no terrors to them.

    These they regarded as a part of natural phenomena, under the guidance of the “Beloved One,” who governed all things, and bestowed upon his children all of the good things which  their merits deserved. When that great philanthropist, General James Oglethorpe, about 1733, procured permission of King George to come to America and found a colony for the poor and oppressed people of England who could not make a respectable living for themselves and families, he took care soon after settling at Savannah, Georgia, to seek out and make a league of friendship with that small and distant nation, the intrepid Chickasaws, though they lived nearly a thousand miles in the western wilderness near the great Mississippi. The Chickasaws proved a bulwark of strength to Oglethorpe and his infant colony.

    When General James Robertson, that conspicuous character in the settlement of middle Tennessee, was striving to lay the foundation for his colony at the French Lick, he likewise sought out the intrepid Chickasaws and made a league of friendship with them; and but for their valor and fidelity his settlement would doubtless have been wiped from the face of the earth.

    When the Revolutionary war was over, and the Northwestern Indians beyond the Ohio and about the Great Lakes were carrying fire and destruction to the outposts of civilization, and “Mad” Anthony Wayne was striving to raise an army to succor civilization in the wilderness, President George Washington, “first in war, first in peace and first in the hearts of his countrymen,” appealed to the Chickasaws to aid the United States, to which they cheerfully responded.

    It was a proud saying of the Chickasaws that they never raised the hatchet against the English-speaking people; and if nobility of character and fidelity in the execution of every league of friendship and treaty ought to be rewarded, then there was nothing too good for the people and the government of the United States to bestow upon the Chickasaws, but it has been said, and sometimes I think with some truth, that republics are ungrateful; at least such has been proven to be the case so far as the Chickasaws are concerned.

    Battle with the Chickasaws—

    It should be borne in mind that the appearance of white men, clad in coats and other vestments of metal armor, and mounted on horseback generally struck terror to the hearts of the Indians when they first looked upon white men, armored and mounted.

    In Mexico, upon the first appearance of Cortez and his followers, the Indians thought the mounted men and the horses on which they rode were unearthly, gigantic monsters which had come to destroy them and their country and that resistance would be useless. But we have seen that the Chickasaws were not to be so easily frightened, and though their weapons were inferior to those of the Spaniards; and though the latter had upon them coats-of-mail and were mounted on horses which were likewise protected by armour, still we shall see the Chickasaws gladly matched their prowess with that of the Spaniards in three separate contests. They did not ask the aid of other Indians, feeling themselves self-sufficient for any emergency that might arise.

    Three of the four narrators do not mention the name of the cacique or chief of the Chickasaws; but there is a sentence in Ranjel which, though somewhat involved, gives the name of the principal chief as Miculasa; while the Gentleman of Elvas gives the names of his two subordinate Chiefs as Alimamu and Niculasa.

    It frequently happens that the narrators give different names both to persons and places; but this is not strange when we remember that they had no guide as to the spelling, and guessed at spelling from the sound of the words, as best they could.

    Having taken possession, evidently against the will of the Chickasaws, De Soto sought to open up communications, seizing certain of the Indians and among them one that was much esteemed by Miculasa, the chief, who came to see De Soto on January 3, 1541, being borne upon the shoulders of his warriors. Biedma says:

    “He gave us deer skins and little dogs (of which the Spaniards were fond). The people returned, and every day Indians came and went, bringing us many hares and whatever else the country supplied.”

    According to Elvas when Chief Miculasa came to see De Soto,

    ‘’He came, and offered him the service of his person, territories, and subjects; he said that he would cause two chiefs to visit him in peace. In a few days he returned with them, they bringing their Indians. They presented the governor 150 conies, with clothing of the country, such as shawls and skins.

    “The name of one was Alimamu, of the other Niculasa.”

    I have quoted from Elvas hereinbefore that “so much grain was brought together as was needed for getting through the season.”

    Or, stated in one sentence, Chief Miculasa offered to De Soto his personal services, those of his people and territories, and actually supplied everything necessary for man and beast of the entire army, consisting of some 250 men (Biedma, page 21) and at least 100 head of horses, hogs, etc.

    That this was a heavy burden to be suddenly placed upon an uncivilized people, does not admit of question, and at least shows that the Chickasaws were good livers.

    When the expedition had fairly settled down, Chief Niculasa asked De Soto to aid him in the suppression of his vassal, the chief of Saquechuma (or Sacchuema-Ranjel), who had rebelled against Niculasa. De Soto, taking thirty cavalry and eighty infantry, went to the province said to be in rebellion and found the houses deserted, which were burned up. Ranjel states that thereupon peace was made, and does not hint of any trick or dissimulation on the part of the Indians. However, the Gentleman of Elvas states that the whole affair was a dissimulation on the part of Niculasa, who wished to separate the army into two parts so that it could be the more easily destroyed ; but that, owing to the  vigilance of the governor, his men were at all times on guard and no opportunity was afforded to make the contemplated attack.

    However this may be, it is certain that the governor was sending for the chief, and sending a horse upon which the chief was to ride in making his visits to dine with the governor, and we may well believe that the governor took occasion to make many fair and flattering speeches to the chief.

    The Gentleman of Elvas gives a very clear and the best account of the causes which led to the sanguinary conflict between the army of De Soto and the Chickasaws, on March 4, 1541, and the results thereof; and I do not think I can do better than to quote from him, beginning at page 102, as follows:

    “The governor invited the caciques and some chiefs to dine with him, giving them pork to eat, which they so relished, although not used to it, that every night Indians would come up to some houses where the hogs slept, a cross-bow shot off from the camp, to kill and carry away what they could of them. Three were taken in the act; two the governor commanded to be slain with arrows, and the remaining one, his hands having been cut off, was sent to the cacique, who appeared grieved that they had given offense, and glad that they were punished. This chief was half a league from where the Christians were in an open country, whither wandered off four of the cavalry, Francisco Osorio, Reynoso, a servant of the Marquis of Astorga, and two servants of the governor—the one, Ribera, his page, the other, Fuentes, his chamberlain. They took some skins and shawls from the Indians, who made great outcry in consequence and abandoned their houses. When the governor heard of it, he ordered them to be apprehended, and condemned Osorio and Fuentes to death, as principals, and all of them to lose their goods. The friars, the priests, and other principal personages solicited him to let Osorio live and moderate the sentence; but he would do so for no one. When about ordering them to be taken to the town-yard to be beheaded, some Indians arrived, sent by the chief to complain of them. Juan Ortiz, at the entreaty of Baltasar de Gallegos and others, changed their words, telling the governor, as from the cacique, that he had understood those Christians had been  arrested on his account; that they were in no fault, having offended him in nothing, and that if he would do him a favor, to let them go free; then Ortiz said to the Indians that the governor had the persons in custody, and would visit them with such punishment as should be an example to the rest. The prisoners were ordered to be released.

    “So soon as March had come, the governor, having determined to leave Chicaca, asked 200 tamemes of the cacique, who told him that he would confer with his chiefs. Tuesday, the eighth, he went where the cacique was to ask for the carriers, and was told that he would send them the next day. When the governor saw the chief, he said to Luis de Moscoso that the Indians did not appear right to him; that a very careful watch should be kept that night, to which the field marshal paid little attention. At four o’clock in the morning the Indians fell upon them in four squadrons, from as many quarters, and directly as they were discovered, they beat a drum. With loud shouting, they came in such haste, that they entered the camp at the same moments with some scouts that had been out; of which, by the time those in the town were aware, half the houses were in flames. That night it had been the turn of three horsemen to be of the watch—two of them of low degree, the least value of any in the camp, and the third a nephew of the governor, who had been deemed a brave man until now, when he showed himself as great a coward as either of the others; for they all fled, and the Indians, finding no resistance, came up and set fire to the place. They waited outside of the town for the Christians, behind the gates, as they should come out of the doors, having had no opportunity to put on their arms; and as they ran in all directions, bewildered by the noise, blinded by the smoke and the brightness of the flame, knowing not whither they were going, or were able to find their arms, or put saddles on their steeds, they saw the Indians who shot arrows at them. Those of the horses that could break their halters got away, and many were burned to death in the stalls.

    “The confusion and rout were so great that each man fled by the way that first opened to him, there being none to oppose the Indians; but God, who chastiseth his own as he pleaseth, and in the greatest wants and perils hath them in his hand, shut the eyes of the Indians, so that they could not discern what they had done, and believed that the beasts running about loose were  the cavalry gathering to fall upon them. The governor, with a soldier named Tapia, alone got mounted, and charging upon the Indians, he struck down the first of them he met with a blow of the lance, but went over with the saddle, because in the haste it had not been tightly drawn, and he fell. The men on foot, running to a thicket outside of town, came together there; the Indians imagining, as it was dark, that the horses were cavalry coming upon them, as has been stated, they fled, leaving only one dead, which was he the governor smote.

    “The town lay in cinders. A woman, with her husband, having left a house, went back to get some pearls that had remained there; and when she would have come out again the fire had reached the door and she could not, neither could her husband assist her, so she was consumed. Three Christians came out of the fire in so bad plight that one of them died in three days from that time, and the two others for a long while were carried in their pallets, on poles borne on the shoulders of Indians, for otherwise they could not have got along. There died in this affair eleven Christians and fifty horses. 100 of the swine remained, 400 having been destroyed, from the conflagration of Mauilla.

    “If, by good luck, anyone had been able to save a garment until then, it was there destroyed. Many remained naked, not having had time to catch up their skin dresses. In that place they suffered greatly from cold, the only relief being in large fires, and they passed the night long in turning, without the power to sleep; for as one side of a man would warm, the other would freeze. Some contrived mats of dried grass sewed together, one to be placed below and the other above them ; many who laughed at this expedient were afterwards compelled to do likewise. The Christians were left so broken up that, with the want of the saddles and arms which had been destroyed, had the Indians returned the second night, they might, with little effort, have been overpowered. They removed from that town to the one where the cacique was accustomed to live, because it was in the open field. In eight days’ time they had constructed many saddles from the ash and likewise lances, as good as those made in Biscay.”

    Garcilaso de la Vega gives substantially the same account as the Gentleman of Elvas, but adds some additional particulars,  among them that the Chickasaw chief chose a dark and cloudy night when a north wind was blowing furiously to make the attack.

    That the chief divided his forces into three bands, so as to make the attack simultaneously in three several places, the chief leading in person the force which attacked in the center. He adds :

    “Immediately the air resounded with the blasts of conch shells, the rumbling of wooden drums, and the yells and war whoops of the savages, who rushed like demons to the assault. Many had lighted matches, like cords, made of a vegetable substance, which, whirled in the air, would blaze up into flame; others had arrows tipped with the same. These they hurled upon the houses, which being of reeds and straw, instantly took fire, and the wind blowing strongly, were soon wrapped in flames.”

    Ranjel says that the Indians

    “entered the camp in many detachments, beating drums as if it had been in Italy, and setting fire to the camp, they burned and captured fifty-nine horses, and three of them they shot through the shoulders with arrows.”

    He added :

    “If the Indians had known how to follow up their victory, this would have been the last day of the lives of the Christians of that army, and made an end of the demand for carriers.”

    We also learn from Garcilaso that the woman who was burned up was the wife of a worthy soldier, and that she was the only white woman that had accompanied the expedition from Spain. That she was a white woman is not stated by any of the other three narrators, and it will be seen that the sentence from Elvas in reference to her death is obscure, but not in conflict with Garcilaso.

    Her husband had left her behind when he rushed forth to fight, and she had escaped from the burning house, but returned  to save some pearls; and was cut off by the flames from her second retreat and was found burned to death.

    The loss of the Spaniards, according to Elvas, was eleven Christians and fifty horses; according to Ranjel, twelve Christians and fifty-nine horses; while Garcilaso says forty Spaniards fell in combat and fifty horses perished and many more were wounded; that the darts had been skillfully aimed at the vital parts of the horses. One horse had two shafts through the heart, shot from different directions. Another horse, one of the heaviest in the army, was killed, sped by such a vigorous arm that the arrow had passed through both shoulders and four fingers’ breadth beyond.

    Biedma in his usual laconic style, says:

    “The Indians did us very great injury, killing fifty-seven horses, more than three hundred hogs, and thirteen or fourteen men; and it was a great, mysterious providence of God that though we were not resisting them, nor giving them any cause to do so, they turned and fled; had they followed us up, not a man of all our number could have escaped. Directly we moved to a cottage about a mile off.”

    In the last conflict between the Spaniards and the Chickasaws, as will be seen in the next chapter, the number of Spaniards who then lost their lives in battle is stated in a rather equivocal way ; but it seems certain that at least fifteen died on the forward march, and I am inclined to the opinion that as many Spaniards perished in the last as did in the first battle.

    The loss in the first battle of so much of De Soto’s weapons, armor, horses, hogs, etc., was probably as great a weakening of the army as the loss of the lives of the Spaniards.

    We must always bear in mind that our source of information comes from the Spaniards, who no doubt colored their accounts to their advantage, and doubtless to the disadvantage of the Chickasaws.

    It will be noted that all four of the narratives state the loss of some 300 head of hogs, which were greatly prized by De Soto. How he contrived to carry with his army so large a number of these slow-moving and easily-wearied animals through the wilderness, and to so keep them that they constantly multiplied, is one of the marvels of this extraordinary expedition. He saved enough, however, for stock, for after his death, May 21, 1542, his personal effects were sold at auction, and among these his hogs, which brought 200 cruzados per head, to be paid at the end of the expedition, upon a division of the fruits thereof, or if none, then within one year. From that time forward most of the people raised hogs and ate freely of pork.

    In an interesting article published by Mr. E. T. Winston, of Pontotoc, in his paper, The Advance, November 22, 1917, he reviews this episode in the travels of De Soto with respect to the loss of so many of his hogs, many of which escaped into the wilds and became the progenitors of multitudes of wild hogs found by the earliest settlers in Mississippi.

    Mr. Winston felicitates the State of Mississippi as the place furnishing the time, the place, and the occasion when “hog and hominy” first met, although the meeting was destined to give rise to the near destruction of the De Soto expedition, which furnished the hogs while the Indians furnished the hominy.

    It is well known that maize, or Indian corn, was a gift of incalculable value from the Indians of the new world to civilization, more of that grain being now raised in the United States that any other cereal, the crop for 1917, being 3,247,512,000 bushels, valued at $4,871,268,000, a sum so great as to stagger the imagination. Lye hominy, so much used throughout the South before the Civil War, and now put up in cans by large corporations for general distribution through the channels of trade and commerce, is a very wholesome and nourishing article of diet, a gift of the Indians to the world, which the Chickasaws called “Tom-fulla.”

    What Caused the Conflict-It is perfectly evident from the account of the Spaniards that the attack by the Chickasaws upon the Spaniards was brought about by two causes which justly incensed the Indians.

    In the first place the Spaniards had appropriated corn and other provisions belonging to the Indians worth probably ten times the value of all of the Spanish hogs. Doubtless the Indians thought that a fair exchange was no robbery; and conceding that some of these hogs were taken without permission, still it does seem a harsh and cruel punishment to have put two Indians to death therefor; and furthermore to have cut off the hands of a third one and sent him to his people. While I am well aware that the men at that day and time are not to be judged by the standards of the present, still the duplicity of Juan Ortiz turned the retributory sentence pronounced by De Soto on his fellows who had robbed the Indians into a perfect mockery of justice.

    It is true that De Soto had decreed the same punishment on his own followers, that he had visited on the Indians for a like offense; but he was deceived, and the ends of justice defeated by the deception of Ortiz and his confederates; but we may be assured that his falsehoods did not deceive the ever vigilant and intelligent Chickasaws. The most unfortunate phase of the matter is that in all probability the Indians were never made aware of the deception practiced upon De Soto by his own followers.

    In the next place the demand made by the Spaniards for porters was probably the immediate cause for the attack made by the Chickasaws upon the expedition. Nothing could escape the vigilance of the Chickasaws, for the smallness of the nation, surrounded by hostile neighbors, so much more numerous than themselves, made the trite saying, “eternal vigilance is the price of liberty,” a part of the very warp and woof of their existence. I doubt not that they had a complete history of the treatment of the Spaniards towards the Indians before reaching their country; and if so, they knew that if a tribe once furnished the

    desired porters, they were not only compelled to carry burdens all day, but were compelled to make camp, and when camp was made, it was their duty to feed the stock, do the cooking, and in short, do all menial work; they were secured by chains in order to prevent escape, and carried as virtual prisoners, either to death, or so far from their people that they could never return again to their beloved country.

    Evidently the Chickasaws preferred death to such a fate, and were ready to stake their all on an unequal contest. This they did not only in the manner set forth above, but in a few days they renewed the attack, but without success. De Soto was almost completely cast down by the terrible assaults of the fearless and intrepid Chickasaws. He had become convinced from appearances that the Indians were contemplating a battle, saying to his followers: “Tonight is an Indian night. I shall sleep armed and my horse saddled.”

    He charged Luis de Moscoso, master of the camp, that he should take extra precautions that night in regard to the sentinels, since they were to start on their journey next day. Moscoso put on the morning watch three of the most useless men, mounted on the poorest horses in the camp. For his gross negligence in this regard De Soto deposed Moscoso, and appointed Baltazar de Gallegos in his place.

    In the next chapter I will take up the line of march from the Chickasaw country to the place where De Soto discovered the Mississippi River, and then we will see that the Chickasaws made a third attempt to destroy the Spaniards. As that chapter will deal particularly with the place at which the great river was discovered and is intended as an answer to those who contend that it was discovered in Tunica County, Mississippi, and who also affect to reject the narrative of Garcilaso de la Vega, “the Inca,” I will not in that chapter quote from or say anything upon the authority of Garcilaso, though I consider his narrative an extremely valuable contribution to our knowledge of what really occurred during the De Soto expedition.

    However, as showing the bravery and indomitable spirit of the Chickasaws, Garcilaso tells at length of the complicated and well-built fort the Chickasaws had constructed near a rapid river which we now call the Tallahatchie, and of the sanguinary conflict which there took place.

    I select these two excerpts as showing the prowess and intrepidity of the Chickasaws :

    “At the first discharge, Diego de Castro, Luis Bravo, and Francisco de Figueroa, were brought to the ground, mortally wounded. All three were pierced in the thigh, with arrows barbed with flint, for the savages, having gained some experience during their warfare with the Spaniards, always aimed at the thigh, which was never guarded. The Spaniards, seeing their companions fall, shouted to one another to rush in, and leave the Indians no time to gall them with their arrows. They charged furiously, and drove the enemy before them to the very portals of the fortress.

    “While Juan de Anasco and Andres de Vasconcelos attacked the savages on the flank, De Soto with twenty horses, charged upon the other. As the governor was spurring onward, an arrow struck him upon his casque with such force that it rebounded a pike’s length in the air, and De Soto confessed afterwards that it made his eyes flash fire. Pressed by the united shock of horse and foot, the Indians made for the entrance of the fort, but these were so narrow that a great number were slaughtered without the walls. The Spaniards rushed in, pell-mell, with them. * * *

    “One of the savages who had escaped, desirous of showing his skill with the bow and arrow, separated himself from his companions, and shouted to the Spaniards, giving them to understand, by signs and words,  that he challenged any archer to come out and have a shot with him, to prove which was the better marksman. Upon this, Juan de Salinas, a brave Austrian (Asturian?) hidalgo, who with some companions had sheltered himself among trees from the arrows, stepped forth, and walking down to the bank of the river, took his stand opposite to the Indian. One of his companions called to him to wait until he should come to guard him with his shield ; but Salinas refused to take any advantage of his enemy. He placed an arrow in his  cross-bow, while the Indian also selected one from his quiver, and both drew at the same moment.
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